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ORDER
On August 26, 2016, Administrative Law Judge Deena Sanceda, on behalf of the Illinois
Labor Relations Board, issued a Recommended Decision and Order in the above-captioned matter.
No party filed exceptions to the Administrative Law Judge's Recommendation during the time
allotted, and at its December 13, 2016 public meeting, the Board, having reviewed the matter,
declined to take it up on its own motion.
THEREFORE, pursuant to Section 1200.135(b )(5) of the Board's Rules and Regulations,
80 Ill. Admin. Code §1200.135(b)(5), the parties have waived their exceptions to the Administrative
Law Judge's Recommended Decision and Order, and this non-precedential Recommended Decision
and Order is final and binding on the parties to this proceeding.
Issued in Chicago, Illinois, this 14th day of December 2016.
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Case No. S-CA-14-107

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE'S RECOMMENDED DECISION AND ORDER

On December 24, 2013, James W. Young ("Charging Party") filed a charge in the abovecaptioned case with the State Panel of the Illinois Labor Relations Board ("Board"), alleging that
the Respondent, Village of University Park ("Village") engaged in unfair labor practices within
the meaning of Section lO(a) of the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act, 5 ILCS 315 (2012), as
amended ("Act"). On January 15, 2014, Charging Party amended his charge. On April 24,
2014, the Board's Executive Director issued an Order holding the charge in abeyance pending
resolution of Young's grievance through the parties' arbitration process.
On May 5, 2014, the Charging Party amended his charge for a second time to allege that
Respondent discriminated and retaliated against Young in violation of the Act when it hired
Bennie Bryant as a full-time patrol officer instead of Young. These additional charges were
investigated in accordance with Section 11 of the Act and the Rules and Regulations of the
Board, 80 Ill. Admin. Code§§ 1200-1300 ("Rules"). On July 29, 2014, the Board's Executive
Director determined that the amended portion of the charge involved dispositive issues of fact or
law, and issued a Complaint for Hearing ("Complaint"). 1 The undersigned heard the case in
Chicago, Illinois, on September 22, and December 8, 2015. At the hearing, the Charging Party
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The Complaint only addresses the allegations raised in the charge as amended on May 5, 2014.

presented evidence in support of its allegations, the Respondent was given the opportunity to
provide evidence in its defense, and both parties were given an opportunity to participate, adduce
relevant evidence, examine witnesses, argue orally, and file written briefs.

After full

consideration of the parties' stipulations, motions, evidence, arguments and briefs, and upon the
entire record of the case, I recommend the following:

I.

PRELil\UNARY FINDINGS

The parties stipulate, and I find that:
1.

At all times material, Respondent has been a public employer within the meaning of
Section 3(o) of the Act.

2.

At all times material, Respondent has been subject to the jurisdiction of the Board's State
Panel, pursuant to Sections 5( a-5) and 20(b) of the Act.

3.

At all times material, the Respondent has employed James W. Young as a part-time
police officer.

4.

At all times material, Young was a public employee within the meaning of Section 3(n)
of the Act.

5.

At all times material, Young was a member of a bargaining unit ("Unit") represented by
American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees ("Union"), Local 3837.

6.

At all times material, the Respondent and the Union have been parties to a collective
bargaining agreement ("CBA") that contains a grievance procedure that culminates in
final and binding arbitration.

7.

At all times material, Young has served as a union steward for the Union.

2

8.

On December 24, 2013, Charging Party filed the unfair labor practice charge in Case No.
S-CA-14-107, alleging that the Respondent placed him on an indefinite suspension in
retaliation for his protected activity as union steward.

9.

On January 15, 2014, Charging Party amended the unfair labor practice charge referenced
in paragraph [8].

10.

On or about April 8, 2014, Respondent hired Bennie Bryant as a full-time patrol officer
after waiving the normal and customary Fire and Police Commission rules and
regulations ("Commission Rules") regarding the filling of such vacancies.

II.

FINDINGS OF FACT
The Village of University Park has a population of approximately 7,400 residents. A

Village Manager and a Board of Trustees operate the Village. The Board of Trustees consists of
six trustees and the Village Mayor.

Respondent

(''Department") to

the Village
services to

law

The

Department employs between twenty to twenty-three full-time, part-time, and reserve police
officers.
Chief of

Department is a para-military organization that follows a
lS

Department operations.

head of

chain-of-comrnand.

Department who oversees all police functions and

Village Manager supervises

the Village Manager since at least 2013.

Chief. Lafayette Linear has been

Department also consists of a Deputy Chief, two

Commanders, four sergeants, and approximately seventeen patrol officers.

The two

Commanders have different duties, but possess the same authority. Deborah Wilson is the Patrol
Commander who supervises the patrol officers.
Commander. In recent years, the Department

Darryl Stroud is the Administrative

gone through periods

the Village did

not retain a Chief or a Deputy Chief, and would allow a lower ranking officer to be the '"fnterim

3

,, In

13.
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was Interim

as

13.
A. James Young
Young began working in the Department as a part-time police officer in 2001.

In

addition to being a part-time police officer, Young is also a licensed school teacher. In August
2007, Chief of Police Easley offered Young the opportunity to work as a full-time patrol officer.
Young declined because he had already committed to teaching for the 2007-2008 school year.
In 2009, Young became a union steward. In his capacity as union steward, Young was
involved in between fifteen and twenty grievances, but he consulted on approximately thirty
issues. He filed grievances on behalf of employees in the Police Department, the Department of
Parks and Recreations, and the Department of Public Works. Young was also on the Union's
negotiating team during the negotiations for the CBA.

In April 2013, Young also filed a

grievance on behalf of Officer Gerald Shives. The grievance resulted in Shives's reinstatement
after Interim Chief Darryl Stroud terminated Shives. Young directly informed Village Manager
Lafayette Linear that he filed the grievance.
In April 2013, Young also filed a grievance on behalf of part-time Officer William Kelly.
On April 9, 2013, Kelly informed the Union that he resigned from his position because he felt
that he "did not receive the needed support to succeed as a sworn officer to meet the needs of the
community of University Park." He also informed the Union that he would like to rescind his
letter of resignation. On April 12, 2013, Young notified Commander Wilson that Young was
assigned to the Union's investigative inquiry regarding Officer Kelly. In response, Wilson sent
Young the following e-mail:
I received your e-mail regarding Officer Kelly. Officer Kelly resigned. I took no
action with Officer Kelly so your concerns appear to be unjustified. You have no
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authority to conduct any investigation pertaining to any Police Officer or Police
Officer's work record with this agency. I frankly do not understand how a
voluntary resignation found its way to you for Union action. The Police
Department has not received any 1st step grievance and is unaware of any issues
regarding Officer Kelly. I trust that you have not violated any department rules or
taken some political action to undermine this administration. So that I am clear,
you are ordered to desist from any type of investigation or injuries pertaining to
this department or any of the employees.
Interim Chief Stroud and others were copied on this e-mail exchange. On April 17, 2013,
Young filed a grievance, as a union steward, on Kelly's behalf alleging that the Department
violated several provisions of the applicable CBA, including provisions involving education
benefits, tuition reimbursement, training opportunities, and educational leaves.
In Young's time as a part-time police officer, he only received one performance
evaluation. In January 2010, Young's supervisor, Commander Wilson, gave him his only annual
performance evaluation. She gave Young a rating of "meets expectations" based upon a score of
558 out of 935.

In May 2013, Interim Chief Stroud awarded Young the Chief's Award

Commendation for Young's participation in reducing burglaries and other crimes during the
months of February and March 2013.
In December 2013, Joliet Junior College hosted a concealed carry training course in
response to a recent change in the law. The Department limited the training to supervisors so
that the Department could decide how to train its officers regarding the changes. Young attended
the training in his capacity as a trustee for the Village Library, not in his capacity as a part-time
police officer. Stroud and Wilson saw Young at the training. On December 9, 2013, at Stroud's
instruction, Wilson suspended Young for "having disobeyed a direct order" by attending the
concealed carry training. Wilson testified that Stroud decided to suspend Young. Wilson copied
Chief Bradley and Stroud on the suspension. Part time Village Officer Apps also attended the
training without the approval of the Village. However, Apps attended on behalf of Grant Park
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Police Department where he also worked part time, and the Grant Park Police Department paid
for Apps' s training. The Village did not suspend Officer Apps. Young filed a grievance over his
suspension. Young testified that he and Chief Bradley interacted regarding Young's grievance
when it proceeded to arbitration. On December 24, 2013, Young filed an unfair labor practice
charge with the Board alleging that the Village suspended him in violation of the Act. The
Board served the charge upon the Village Mayor, Vivian Covington.

B. Rules Governing Hiring
The Department's Chief of Police hires part time and reserve officers. The Village's
Board of Fire and Police Commission hires full-time patrol officers. The process for hiring fulltime patrol officers requires the Department to post a job when it is available.

Interested

individuals complete an application, go through the interview and testing processes, and
qualified candidates are then placed on an eligibility list. The list ranks the candidates according
to the scores received during the testing processes. The Commission Rules provide that "a
candidate's name shall be stricken from an initial eligibility register or a subsequent primary
registry after the name has been on the initial eligibility register for a period exceeding two (2)
years." During those two years, the Village hires full-time patrol officers from that list according
to the rankings.
On several occasions since 2007, the Village Board of Trustees has bypassed the
Commission's hiring rules by passing ordinances allowing the Village to hire full-time officers
without going through the Fire and Police Commission.
In June 2007, Police Chief Melvin Easley and the Deputy Police Chief Gregory Box
advised the Village Board of Trustees that the Village was in "immediate and critical need of
additional, full time, experienced police officers so as to be prepared for the usual increase in
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policing activity required during the summer months[.]"

The Village Board waived the

Commission Rules and allowed the Department to hire part-time police officers, John Sulicz,
Wallace L. McMillan, Jr., Donald Cunningham, James Young, Douglas Wiencek, and Donald E.
Piwowarski as full-time officers.

Chief Easley then hired Officer Sulicz, Cunningham, and

Wiencek as full-time patrol officers. This is when Young declined the offer to become a fulltime patrol officer because Easley extended the offer in August 2013, after the school year had
already begun.
In May 2008, Chief Easley and the Deputy Chief Box again advised the Board of
Trustees that the Village was in "immediate and critical need of additional, full time, experienced
police officers so as to be prepared for the usual increase in policing activity required during the
summer months[.]" The Village Board passed an ordinance waiving the Commission Rules, "in
the furtherance of the health, and safety and welfare of the residents of the Village," allowing the
Department to hire "experienced, sworn police officer" Shawn Apps. 2
In March 2009, Respondent amended the Commission Rules by establishing a hiring list
composed of certified sworn full time police officers in other jurisdictions for lateral entry as full
time patrol officers in the Village.
On April 15, 2014, the Village Board passed Ordinance No. 0014-15 because Police
Chief Bradley advised them that there was an "immediate and critical need of additional, full
time, experienced police officers so as to be prepared for the usual increase in policing activity
required during the summer months." The Village Board again waived the Commission Rules
and allowed the Department to hire Bennie Bryant as a full time police officer who at the time
was a part-time officer in the Department. The Department then hired Bryant as a full-time

2

Commander Wilson testified that Apps became a full-time patrol officer in 2009, as part of a lateral
transfer. This testimony is inconsistent with the documentary evidence.
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officer.

In April 2013, Interim Chief Stroud hired Bryant as a part-time officer.

Bryant

previously worked in the Phoenix Police Department and the Orland Hills Police Department.
Stroud knew Bryant from the police community. When Chief Bradley joined the Department in
November 2013, Stroud relinquished his role as Interim Chief and returned to his former role as
Commander. Young was not on the eligibility list when Bryant became a full-time patrol officer.

III.

ISSUES AND CONTENTIONS
This case presents three issues all surrounding the Respondent's decision to hire Bennie

Bryant as a full-time patrol officer instead of the Charging Party, James W. Young. The first
issue is whether Respondent violated Sections 10(a)(2) and (1) of the Act when it hired Bryant
instead of Young because Young was a union steward. The second issue is whether Respondent
violated Section 10(a)( 1) of the Act when it hired Bryant instead of Young because Young filed
a grievance in 2013. 3 The final issue is whether the Respondent violated Sections 10(a)(3) and
( 1) of the Act when it hired Bryant instead of Young because Young filed an unfair labor
practice charge with the Board in December 2013, and amended the charge in January 2014.
The Charging Party argues that Chief Bradley and Commanders Stroud and Wilson were
the decision-makers who hired Bryant. He also argues that they were aware that he was a union
steward, that he filed a grievance in 2013, and that he filed an unfair labor practice charge with
the Board. He also argues that the Respondent waived the Commission Rules and hired Bryant
instead of him because of its animus towards his protected conduct. The Charging Party argues
that there is insufficient evidence that the Respondent needed to hire a full time officer

3

The Complaint did not allege that the Village violated Section lO(a)(l) because Young filed a grievance,
and Charging Party did not expressly seek to further amend the Complaint to allege that this action also
violated the Act as identified in Section lO(a)(I ). However, the record supports further amending the
Complaint to include such a claim, which I will discuss further in my analysis of the case. Accordingly, I
have exercised the discretion under Section 1220.50(t) of the Rules to amend the Complaint.
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immediately. Finally, he argues that the evidence does not support the Respondent's argument
that it did not hire him as a full time officer because of his history of disciplinary issues.
The Respondent argues that there is no evidence that it acted with animus towards
Young's protected activity when it hired Bryant as a full time patrol officer. The Respondent
also argues that it was within its managerial discretion to hire Bryant, and that Young's history
of disciplinary problems was the reason it did not hire him.

IV.

DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
The Respondent did not discriminate against Young because of his role as a umon

steward or because he filed a grievance in 2013. The Respondent also did not retaliate against
Young for filing an unfair labor practice charge with the Board.
A. 10(a)(2) and (1) Discrimination Because of Young's Union Activity

The Respondent did not discriminate against Young because of his role as a union
steward in violation of Sections 10(a)(2) and (l) of the Act when it hired Bryant as a full-time
patrol officer.
A public employer commits an unfair labor practice under Section 10(a)(2) of the Act
when the public employer or its agent "discriminate[s] in regard to hire or tenure of employment
or any term or condition of employment in order to encourage or discourage membership in or
other support for any labor organization." 5 ILCS 315/10(a)(2) (2014). A public employer
commits an unfair labor practice as identified in Sections lO(a)(l) of the Act when the public
employer or its agents "interfere with, restrain or coerce public employees in the exercise of the
rights guaranteed" under the Act. 5 ILCS 315/lO(a)(l) (2014).
Here, Young argues that the Village violated Section 10(a)(2) and (1) when it hired
Bryant as a full-time officer instead of allowing Young to apply for the full-time position
9

through the customary Commission Rules because he was a union steward. Where, as here,
alleged violations of Sections 10(a)(2) and (1) stern from the same conduct, the lO(a)(l)
violation is considered to be derivative, i.e. a result of the 10(a)(2) violation. City of Chicago, 31
PERI <)[129 (IL LRB-LP 2015); State of Ill. Dep't of Cent. Mgmt. Serv. (Dep't of Pub. Aid), 10
PERI <)[2006 (IL SLRB 1993); see also Bloom Twnshp. High Sehl. Dist. 206, Cook Cnty. v. Ill.
Ed. Labor Rel. Bd., 312 Ill. App. 3d 943, 957 (1st Dist. 2000) (using the same analysis in
interpreting very similar provisions of the Illinois Educational Labor Relations Act "IELRA" 115
ILCS 5/1 (2012)). In such cases, the applicable test is the one used to determine whether the
primary violation occurred. Bloom Twnshp. High Sehl. Dist. 206, 312 Ill. App. 3d at 957. This
is because when a lO(a)(l) violation is alleged only as a result of a violation of another Section
of the Act, in this case Section 10(a)(2), the lO(a)(l) violation can be found only if the
underlying charge is sustained. City of Chicago, 31 PERI <)[129; State of Ill. Dep't of Cent.
Mgmt. Serv. (Dep't of Pub. Aid), 10 PERI <)[2006.
To establish a prima facie case of discrimination under Section 10(a)(2) of the Act, the
charging party must prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that (1) the employee engaged in
protected union activity, (2) the employer was aware of the employee's protected activity, (3) the
employer took adverse action against the employee, and (4) the employer's action was motivated
in whole or in part by the employee's protected conduct or union animus with the intent to
discourage or encourage union membership or support. Sheriff of Jackson Cnty. v. Ill. State
Labor Rel. Bd., 302 Ill. App. 3d 411, 415 (5th Dist. 1999); Chicago Transit Auth., 30 PERI <J[9
(IL LRB-LP 2013); City of Elmhurst, 17 PERI <)[2040 (IL LRB-SP 2001). In other words, that
the employer took the adverse action in response to the employee's protected conduct is
insufficient to violate Section 10(a)(2), the record must demonstrate that the employer took the
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adverse action with the specific intention of discouraging or encouraging union membership or
support. This is often referred to as discriminatory motive.
Once a charging party establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the employer to
demonstrate that it would have taken the same action for legitimate business reasons even
without the discriminatory motive. City of Burbank v. Ill. State Labor Rel. Bd., 128 Ill. 2d 335,
346 (1989). However, simply proffering a legitimate business reason for the adverse action does
not satisfy this burden. Id. The fact finder must determine whether the proffered reason is bona
fide or pretextual. Id. If the employer did not actually rely on the proffered reason, then the
reason is pretextual and the inquiry is complete. Id. However, if the employer advances a
legitimate reason and the fact finder finds that the employer relied upon that reason, then the
inquiry continues as a "dual motive" case.

Id. The employer then must demonstrate by a

preponderance of the evidence that it would have taken the same adverse action notwithstanding
the employee's union activity. Id.

1. Young's Union Activity
The parties do not dispute that Young engaged in protected union activity in his capacity
as a union steward. Examples of union activity that satisfy the first prong of the 10(a)(2) test are
active involvement in a union's organizing campaign, serving as a union steward, local union
president and serving on a negotiating committee. Ill. State Toll Hwy. Auth., 25 PERI <[4 (IL
LRB-SP 2009); Vill. of Oak Park, 28 PERI <[111 (IL LRB-SP 2012); Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters,
Local 4308, and City of Princeton (Fire Dep't), 22 PERI <[139 (IL LRB-SP 2006). A union
steward filing a grievance on behalf of unit members also constitutes protected union activity.
Cnty. of Cook, 27 PERI <J[57 (IL LRB-SP 2013) (employer's refusal to reinstate a union steward
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because she filed several grievances in one day constituted discrimination under 10(a)(2) of the
Act) rev'd on other grounds, 29 PERI<J[44 (1st Dist. 2012).

2. Respondent's Knowledge
The Charging Party has proven the second element of his prima facie case. Young has
proven that Chief Bradley was the Respondent's representative who decided to hire Bryant as a
full-time patrol officer, and that Bradley was aware that Young was a union steward when he
made that decision.
i.

Chief Bradley was the Respondent's agent who decided to hire Bryant

Chief Bradley was the Respondent's representative who decided to hire Bryant. The
record demonstrates that the Village Board hired Bryant because of Chief Bradley's
recommendation, thus Bradley was the decision-maker.

Chief Bradley is the Respondent's

representative if he is a statutory supervisor or if he is an agent of the Respondent. State of Ill.,
Sec'y of State, 31 PERI <][7 (IL LRB-SP 2014). An employee is an agent of the employer when
under all of the circumstances, employees would reasonably believe that the employee in
question was reflecting company policy and speaking and acting for management.

Id.~

Cnty. of

Cook and Cook Cnty. Clerk, 10 PERI ~[3013 (IL LLRB 1994). As the Police Chief, Bradley is
the head of the Department, and Young is an employee in that Department. Along with the
overseer of all police functions, police operations, the Chief also possesses the authority to
terminate police officers, as evidenced when Interim Chief Stroud terminated Officer Shives.
For these reasons, I find that Chief Bradley is an agent for the Respondent. However, neither
Commander Wilson nor Commander Stroud were involved in Chief Bradley's decision to hire
Bryant. Wilson testified that Chief Bradley informed her and Stroud together that he wanted to
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hire Bryant as a full-time officer. There is no indication that Bradley's decision was based on
any input from Stroud, and neither Bradley nor Stroud testified at the hearing.
ii.

Chief Bradley knew that Young was a union steward

Chief Bradley knew that Young was a union steward when he hired Bryant as a full-time
patrol officer. Knowledge of an employee's protected activity must be specifically imputed to an
appropriate agent of the employer who is in some manner responsible for the adverse
employment action. Cnty. of Cook and Sheriff of Cook Cnty., 31 PERI <jf171 (IL LRB-LP
2015); Macon Cnty. Bd. and Macon Cnty. Highway Dep't, 4 PERI <jf2018 (IL SLRB 1988);
Cnty. of Menard, 3 PERI <jf2058 (IL SLRB 1987). An employer can be found to have knowledge
of an employee's union activity through direct or circumstantial evidence. Rockford Twp. Hwy.
Dep't, 153 Ill. App. 3d 869, 881 (2nd Dist. 1987). However, when knowledge is based upon
circumstantial evidence, a fact finder may not impute such knowledge to the employer in light of
credible affirmative evidence to the contrary. Macon Cnty. Bd. and Macon Cnty. Highway
Dep't, 4 PERI <jf2018 (manager's knowledge of the employee's protected activity was imputed to
the decision-maker). Cook and Sheriff of Cook Cnty., 31 PERI <]fl 71 (employer's knowledge
was not presumed where decision-maker denied knowing that the employee engaged in protected
activity at the time it took the adverse action). The law is well settled that a manager's or
supervisor's knowledge of an employee's union activity will be imputed to the employer.
Champaign Cnty. Clerk of the Cir. Ct., 8 PERI <jf2025 (IL SLRB 1992); Dr. Phillip Megdal,
D.D.S., Inc., 267 NLRB 82 (1983); Protective Coating Inc., 170 NLRB 670 (1968); MacDonald
Engineering Co., 202 NLRB 748 (1973).
Chief Bradley is presumed to know that Young was a union steward when he hired
Bryant because Stroud, Wilson, and Village Manager Linear knew that Young was a union
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steward.

Knowledge of employees' protected activity can be imputed to the respondent's

decision-maker where the respondent's high-ranking agent witnessed the protected activity.
Cnty. of Cook, 31 PERI <H108 (IL LRB-LP 2014).
Stroud, Wilson, and Linear knew that Young was a union steward. Stroud and Wilson
knew that Young was a union steward because Young informed Wilson as such when he filed a
grievance on behalf of Officer Kelly, and when he copied Stroud on the e-mail he sent to Wilson
informing him of his status as the union representative in that case. Linear was aware because
Young directly informed Linear when he filed a grievance on behalf of Officer Shives.
Commander Stroud, Commander Wilson, and Village Manager Linear are agents of the
Respondent because it is reasonable under all the circumstances for Young to believe that they
reflect the Respondent's policies, and speak and act for management. See State of Ill., Sec'y of
State, 31 PERI <H7. Wilson was Young's direct supervisor. She suspended Young in 2013, and
when Young filed a grievance on behalf of Officer Shives, she specifically informed Young that
she was acting on the Department's behalf. As a Commander Stroud, shares the same authority
as Commander Wilson, and Wilson suspended Young at Stroud' s instruction. Linear is the
Village Manager, who assists the Village Board in operating the Village.

Thus, Stroud's,

Wilson's and Linear's knowledge that Young was a union steward can be correctly imputed to
decision-maker Bradley, because they are Respondent's agents and because Bradley Chief
Bradley never denied knowing that Young was a union steward.
Contrary to the Charging Party's contention, Chief Bradley's knowledge that Young was
a union steward cannot be inferred under the small-plant doctrine. One method of finding that an
employer knew of an employee's protected activity is through the "small plant" doctrine. Under
this doctrine, the employer's knowledge is inferred where such activities are conducted at a small
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workplace and are carried on in such a manner or at such times that it may be presumed that the
employer must have noticed them. City of Sycamore, 11 PERI <][2002. The small plant doctrine
rests on the theory that an employer at a small facility is likely to notice activities at the plant
because of the closer working environment between management and labor. Rockford Twp.
Hwy. Dep't, 153 Ill. App. 3d at 881; Alumbaugh Coal Corp. v. NLRB, 634 F. 2d 1380 (8th Cir.
1980). It is because of the close working relationship that an employer is not required to actually
witness to the union activity, but it can be inferred that the employee's coworkers who were
witnesses informed the employer of the employee's union activity. Rockford Twp. Hwy. Dep't,
153 Ill. App. 3d at 881 (even though the employer was not physically present when the employee
engaged in union activity, the Appellate Court affirmed the Board's inference that the employee
may have been able to obtain information from other employees who witnessed the activity).
The small plant doctrine is not applicable here.
approximately twenty-three officers.

The Department consists of

Commanders Wilson, Commander Stroud, and Officer

Apps who are all subordinate to Bradley were well aware that Young had filed several
grievances in his capacity as a union steward.

However, there is no evidence that the

Department operated in a small facility such that Chief Bradley was forced to notice that Young
was engaging in union activity as a union steward.

3. Respondent's Adverse Action
Respondent's hiring of Bryant instead of allowing Young to apply for the full-time patrol
officer position constitutes an adverse employment action under the Act, however waiving the
Commission Rules to allow for the Department to hire a full-time officer that is not on the
eligibility list is not an adverse action. While an action does not need to have an adverse tangible
result or adverse financial consequence to constitute an adverse employment action under the
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Act, there must be some qualitative change in or actual harm to an employee's terms or
conditions of employment. City of Chicago v. Ill. Local Labor Rel. Bd., 182 Ill. App. 3d 588,
594-95 (1st Dist. 1988). Examples of adverse employment action include, but are not limited to
"discharge, discipline, assignment to more onerous duties or working conditions, layoff,
reduction in pay, hours or benefits, imposition of new working conditions or denial of
advancement." Ill. Dep't of Cent Mgmt. Servs. (Dep't of Emp't Sec.), 11 PERI <J[2022 (IL SLRB
1995). Adverse employment actions also include the refusal to hire a union employee. Rockford
Metro. Exposition Auditorium and Office Bldg. Author. v. Ill. State Labor Rel. Bd., 224 Ill.
App. 3d 1007, 1016 (2nd Dist. 1992); see Phelps Dodge Corp. v. Nat'l Labor Rel. Bd., 313 U.S.
177, 186-187 (1941). Thus, the Respondent's hiring Bryant instead of Young as a full-time
patrol officer is an adverse employment action under the Act. However, even if the Village had
chosen to hire according to the Commission Rules, the Village would not have hired Young
because he was not on the eligibility list effective in April 2014. Accordingly, waiving the
Commission Rules did not adversely affect Young.

4. Respondent's Animus
Union animus did not motivate the Respondent when it hired Bryant instead of Young as
a full-time patrol officer.
Where a public employer is charged with illegally discharging a public employee who
engaged in union or otherwise protected concerted activity, the charging party must show that
the adverse employment action was "based in whole or in part on antiunion animus, or that the
employee's protected conduct was a substantial or motivating factor in the adverse action." City
of Burbank, 128 Ill. 2d at 345.

Where the ultimate decision-maker was in fact neutral, a

charging party may still satisfy its prima facie case where he can show that the adverse action
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results from the recommendation or the involvement of an employer representative who harbors
unlawful animus. State of Ill., Sec'y of State, 31 PERI <J[7; City of Harvey, 18 PERI <)[2032 (IL
LRB-SP 2002). In such a case, the representative's animus may be imputed to a respondent, and
the respondent may then ultimately be held liable for the consequences of the representative's
unlawfully motivated conduct. State of Ill., Sec'y of State, 31 PERI <J[7.
The record contains no evidence, and Young does not argue that the Village Board
members held animus towards his union activity as a steward. Thus, since the Village Board
hired Bryant based entirely upon Chief Bradley's recommendation, in order for Young to satisfy
his prima facie case, he must establish that Chief Bradley acted out of animus for Young's role
as a union steward when the Chief recommended that the Village hire Bryant as a full-time
officer.
Motivation is a question of fact. The fact finder may infer discriminatory motive via
direct evidence such as statements or threats, or via circumstantial evidence. City of Burbank,
128 Ill. 2d at 345; Pace Suburban Bus Div. of the Reg'l Transp. Auth. v. Ill. Labor Rel. Bd., 406
Ill. App. 3d 484, 496-497 (1st Dist. 2010).

To infer discriminatory motive

based upon

circumstantial evidence, the fact finder may consider evidence such as the timing of the adverse
action in relation to the occurrence of the protected concerted activity, any pattern of the
employer's conduct directed at those engaging in protected concerted activity, shifting
explanations for employer's actions, inconsistency in the reasons given for its action against the
employee as compared to other actions by the employer, and an employer's expressed hostility
toward protected concerted activity in conjunction with knowledge of the employee's protected
concerted activities. City of Burbank, 128 Ill. 2d at 346; Pace Suburban Bus Div., 406 Ill. App.
3d at 497.
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Chief Bradley did not act out of, or harbor union animus. There is no direct evidence that
Chief Bradley acted out of animus when he hired Bryant as a full-time officer instead of allowing
Young to apply through the customary Commission Rules because of Young's role as a union
steward.

There is also insufficient circumstantial evidence that Chief Bradley acted out of

animus.
Chief Bradley did not offer inconsistent reasons for choosing to hire Bryant as opposed to
Young. 4 Nor did Chief Bradley express hostility toward Young regarding his role as a union
steward.
There is no pattern of Chief Bradley engaging in conduct directed at those engaging in
protected concerted activity. The Charging Party argues that Respondent demonstrated a pattern
of treating him less favorable than Officer Apps, who was not a union steward, because only
Young was suspended for attending the firearms training in December 2013.

The record

demonstrates that Commander Stroud decided to suspend Young. There is no evidence that
Stroud discussed this with Chief Bradley before making this decision.

Because there is no

evidence that Chief Bradley discussed hiring Bryant with Stroud, these two incidents were
initiated by independent actors, and thus no pattern results.
The timing is also not suspicious despite that Respondent offered Young a full-time
position in 2007 before he became a union steward, but did not offer him the position in 2014
after he became a union steward in 2009.

This is not suspicious because Bradley was not

4

In its opening statement and in its post-hearing brief Respondent argued that it did not hire Young as a
full-time patrol officer because of several disciplinary issues. However, the record contains no evidence
to support this argument. In fact, Respondent offered no testimony as to why Chief Bradley chose to
recommend Bryant for the full-time position. While the record does contain evidence of Young's
disciplinary history, there is no evidence that Young's conduct in any way effected Chief Bradley's
decision to hire Bryant as a full-time patrol officer.
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involved in the 2007 decision, and because in 2008, Respondent also declined to offer Young a
full-time position before Young became a union steward.
Finally, while the Respondent provided some shifting or inconsistent explanations, those
shifting explanations do not demonstrate an unlawful motive because they do not relate to
Respondent's decision to hire Bryant instead of Young. Instead, the Respondent has offered
shifting explanations for its need to hire a full-time officer, generally, but not its decision over
whom to hire. Several of the Village Trustees testified that they agreed to bypass the Fire and
Police Commission because crime had noticeably increased and they needed to hire a full-time
officer immediately. A review of the Ordinance reveals that the Village was in "immediate and
critical need of additional, full time, experienced police officers" in order "to be prepared for the
usual increase in policing activity required during the summer months." Respondent's conduct
was proactive in anticipation of an increase in crime, not a reaction to an existing increase in
crime. While these explanations are inconsistent, the Village's reason for needing an additional
full-time patrol officer is not in question, only its reason to hire Bryant instead of Young.
B. lO(a)(l) Discrimination Because of Young's Protected and Concerted Activity
At the hearing, the Charging Party presented arguments broader than those alleged in the
Complaint. Accordingly, I amended the Complaint to conform it to evidence presented. The
amendment alleges that Respondent violated Section lO(a)(l) of the Act when it hired Bryant
instead of allowing Young to apply through the customary Commission Rules because Young
engaged in protected concerted activity for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual
aid and protection by grieving his 2013 suspension.
Section 1220.SO(f) of the Board's Rules provides that an "Administrative Law Judge, on
the judge's own motion or on the motion of a party, may amend a complaint to conform it to the

19

evidence presented in the hearing or to include uncharged allegations at any time prior to the
issuance of the Judge's recommended decision and order." 80 Ill. Admin. Code § 1220.50{[).
Board precedent provides that the presiding Administrative Law Judge may amend the complaint
in two distinct instances: 1) where, after the hearing's conclusion, the amendment would
conform the pleadings to the evidence and would not unfairly prejudice any party; and 2) to add
allegations not listed in the underlying charge, so long as the added allegations are closely related
to the original allegations in the charge, or grew out of the same subject matter during the
pendency of the case. Forest Pres. Dist. of Cook Cnty v. Ill. Labor Rel. Bd., 369 Ill. App. 3d
733, 746-747 (1st Dist. 2006); Cnty. of DuPage and DuPage Cnty. Sheriff, 30 PERI <j[115 (IL
LRB-SP 2013); Vill. of Wilmette, 20 PERI <j[85 (IL LRB-SP 2004).

The first instance is

applicable in this case.
Here, the additional lO(a)(l) allegation conforms the pleadings to the evidence presented
at hearing because the evidence presented in the hearing revealed that the Charging Party is also
alleging that the Respondent acted in response to the grievance he filed in 2013.

This

amendment does not unfairly prejudice the Respondent because this count was added on the first
day of hearing prior to the beginning of the Respondent's case. Thus, the Respondent was
provided with the opportunity to offer evidence and argue in defense of the additional count.
However, the Charging Party failed to prove the allegation that Respondent discriminated
against him because he grieved his 2013 suspension. The employer's motive or intention is
usually not considered in a Section lO(a)(l) violation, unless an alleged adverse employment
action is taken against an employee for engaging in protected, or concerted activity under the
Act. Chicago Transit Auth., 30 PERI <j[9; Cnty of Cook and Cook Cnty. Sheriff, 28 PERI <j[155
(IL LRB-LP 2012). Then the employer's motive is examined in the same manner as in cases
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arising under Section 10(a)(2) of the Act. Chicago Transit Auth., 30 PERI <J[9; Chicago
Park Dist., 7 PERI <J[3021 (IL LLRB 1991). This requires the charging party to prove that the
employee's protected activity illegally motivated the employer's adverse action. Pace Suburban
Bus Div., 406 Ill. App. 3d at 495; Dep't of Cent. Mgmt. Servs. (State Police), 30 PERI <J[70 (IL
LRB-SP 2013); Chicago Park Dist., 7 PERI <J[3021. If a charging party establishes a primafacie
case, the burden then shifts to the employer to demonstrate that it would have taken the same
action for legitimate, non-pretextual business reasons even without the illegal motive. Pace
Suburban Bus Div., 406 Ill. App. 3d at 500; Chicago Transit Auth., 30 PERI <J[9.
To establish a prima facie case that a respondent violated Section lO(a)(l) of the Act, a
charging party must essentially prove the same elements of a Section 10(a)(2) violation, except
that Section 10(a)(2) focuses on the employee's union activity while a Section lO(a)(l) violation
may be satisfied when the motivation for the employer's discriminatory action is because of a
public employee's protected and concerted activity, but not specifically union activity. Vill. of
Lisle, 24 PERI <J[53 (IL LRB-SP 2008); Sheriff of Cook Cnty., 6 PERI <J[3019 (IL LLRB 1990).
In other words, Young must show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the Village hired
Bryant instead of allowing Young to apply through the Commission Rules because Young filed
the 2013 grievance. Vill. of Ford Heights, 26 PERI

~[145

(IL LRB-SP 2010). Young must

establish a causal connection between his protected concerted activity and the employer's
adverse action, such that the activity was a substantial or motivating factor in the employer's
adverse action against him. Pace Suburban Bus Div., 406 Ill. App. 3d at 495.
An employee filing a single grievance on his behalf pursuant to a collective bargaining
agreement is not engaging in union activity, but is still engaging in statutorily protected activity
under Section lO(a)(l) of the Act. Chicago Park Dist., 7 PERI <J[3021; see Pace Suburban Bus
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Div., 406 Ill. App. 3d at 495-496 (affirming the Board's decision that the employer violated
Section lO(a)(l) when it terminated an employee in retaliation for filing a grievance for
reinstatement); Nat'l Labor Rel. Bd. v. City Disposal Sys., Inc., 465 U.S. 822, 836
(1984) (noting that processing a grievance is concerted activity within the meaning of identical
provisions of the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA") 29 U.S.C. §§ 151-169); Roadmaster
Corp. v. Nat'l Labor Rel. Bd., 874 F. 2d 448, 452 (7th Cir. 1989).
Here, Young engaged in protected concerted activity within the meaning of Section
lO(a)(l) when he filed the 2013 grievance. Bradley was aware of the grievance because Bradley
was involved with the grievance proceedings. As noted above, the Respondent's decision to hire
Bryant instead of Young is an adverse employment action. However, Young did not establish a
causal connection between the adverse action and Young filing the grievance. As discussed
above, there is insufficient evidence that Chief Bradley harbored, or acted out of animus. Thus,
the independent lO(a)(l) charge also fails.
C. 10(a)(3) and (1) Retaliation Because Young Filed an Unfair Labor Practice Charge

The Village did not retaliate against Young for filing an unfair labor practice charge with
the Board because Chief Bradley did not act out of because Young filed the charge.
A public employer commits an unfair labor practice under Section 10(a)(3) of the Act
when the public employer or its agents "discharge[s] or otherwise discriminate[s] against a
public employee because he has signed or filed an affidavit petition or charge or provided any
information or testimony under this Act[.]" 5 ILCS 315/10(a)(3) (2014). To establish a prima
facie case that a respondent violated Section 10(a)(3) of the Act, a charging party must

essentially prove the same elements of a Section 10(a)(2) violation, except that under Section
10(a)(3) the motivation for the discriminatory action is because of a public employee's
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involvement in proceedings before this Board, rather than Section 10(a)(2)'s focus on the
employee's union activity. Vill. of Lisle, 24 PERI <}[53; Sheriff of Cook Cnty., 6 PERI <}[3019.
Young satisfied the first three elements of his prima facie case for the 10( a)(3) retaliation
allegation. Young was involved with proceedings before this Board when he filed an unfair
labor practice charge in December 2013 and when he amended the charge in January 2014.
Respondent knew that Young filed a charge because the Village Mayor was served with the
unfair labor practice charge and the amendment, and Bradley's knowledge can be imputed from
the Mayor. See Cnty. of Cook, 31 PERI <}[108. Regarding the third element, as noted above, the
Respondent's decision to hire Bryant instead of Young is an adverse employment action.
Regarding the final element of Young's prima facie case, he did not establish a causal
connection between the adverse action and Young filing the charge. As I found above, there is
insufficient evidence that Chief Bradley harbored, or acted out of animus. Accordingly, Young's
10(a)(3) charge and its derivative lO(a)(l) charge also fail.

V.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
The Respondent, the Village of University Park, did not violate Sections lO(a)(l),

10(a)(2) or 10(a)(3) of the Act when it hired Bennie Bryant as a full-time patrol officer.

VI.

RECOMMENDED ORDER
IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Complaint for Hearing shall be dismissed.

VII.

EXCEPTIONS
Pursuant to Section 1200.135 of the Board's Rules, parties may file exceptions to the

Administrative Law Judge's Recommended Decision and Order in briefs in support of those
exceptions no later than 30 days after service of this Recommendation.
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Parties may file

responses to exceptions and briefs in support of the responses no later than 15 days after service
of the exceptions.

In such responses, parties that have not previously filed exceptions may

include cross-exceptions to any portion of the Administrative Law Judge's Recommendation.
Within seven (7) days from the filing of cross-exceptions, parties may file cross-responses to the
cross-exceptions. Exceptions, responses, cross-exceptions, and cross-responses must be filed
with the General Counsel of the Illinois Labor Relations Board, either to the Board's Chicago
office at 160 North LaSalle Street, Suite S-400, Chicago, Illinois 60601-3103, or to the Board's
designated email address for electronic filings, at ILRB.Filing@Illinois.gov. All filing must be
served on all other parties. Exceptions, responses, cross-exceptions, and cross-responses will not
be accepted at the Board's Springfield office. The exceptions and/or cross-exceptions sent to the
Board must contain a statement of listing the other parties to the case and verifying that the
exceptions and/or cross-exceptions have been provided to them. The exceptions and/or crossexceptions will not be considered without this statement. If no exceptions have been filed within
the 30-day period, the parties will be deemed to have waived their exceptions.

Issued at Chicago, Illinois this 26th day of August, 2016.
STATE OF ILLINOIS
ILLINOIS LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
STATE PANEL

Deena Sanceda
Administrative Law Judge
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